Culture and Women's Mental Health

Anju Kuruvilla and K. S. Jacob

Contents

Introduction	82
Women and Mental III Health	82
Women and Physical Health	83
Social Determinants of Health	83
Sociocultural Risk Factors	84
Gender Role Hypothesis	85
Explaining the Link	86
Managing Gender-Related Mental Health Challenges	87
Conclusion	89
Cross-References	90
References	90

Abstract

Epidemiological studies across countries and cultures have consistently demonstrated higher prevalence of common mental disorders like depression and anxiety among women. However, psychiatry with its biomedical perspectives employs diagnostic criteria, which uses symptom counts sans context, identifies mental disorders, and suggests individual treatments. The failure to acknowledge the role of the psychosocial, cultural, and economic contexts in producing mental distress and ill health among girls and women in patriarchal societies suggests poor understanding of the complex stressors on one hand and the lack of supports and opportunities available to half the world's population on the other. Psychiatric diagnostic systems should elicit and understand the person's context and take into account the psychosocial and economic stress, supports, and coping while

attempting to empower people. Medicine and psychiatry, nested within capitalistic political and economic systems, need to advocate public health approaches to reducing mental distress and ill health among girls and women. All policies and programs should be viewed through the "gender lens" in order to provide gender justice to girls and women in the near future.

Keywords

Mental disorders · Depression · Anxiety · Gender · Women · Mental health

Introduction

Psychiatry, with its biomedical framework, perspectives, and models, postulates central nervous system etiology and pathology for mental disorders, suggests diagnostic criteria, offers differential diagnosis, and recommends psychotropic medication. In addition, biomedical psychiatry, in order to increase the reliability of diagnosis, emphasizes symptom counts, checklists, and operational criteria while dismissing the person's context. Nevertheless, mental health and illness are significantly influenced by environmental and societal factors. Cultural factors have been shown to affect the prevalence, clinical picture, health-seeking behavior, course, and management of mental disorders. This chapter discusses the issues related to culture and women's mental health, distress, and illness.

Women and Mental III Health

Literature is replete with evidence that women suffer significantly higher levels of mental distress and ill health. Studies have consistently demonstrated higher rates of anxiety and mood disorders among women than men (Kuehner 2003; Pigott 1999). Depression has been found to be significantly higher in the lives of girls and women living under social adversity and cultural degradation (Patel et al. 2006). Gender combined with poverty further increases the risk of common mental disorders possibly through the experience of insecurity and the risks of violence and physical ill health (Kleinman 2003). Psychotic presentations and eating disorders are also reported to be more likely to develop in women as compared to men following assault of any kind (Jenkins and Good 2014).

The World Health Organization acknowledges higher rates of common mental disorders – depression, anxiety, and somatic presentations – which affect approximately one in three people in the community and constitute a serious public health problem. Unipolar depression is twice as common in women and is much more persistent in women than men (World Health Organization n.d.-a, b).

The World Mental Health Surveys examined time-space (cohort-country) variation in gender differences in lifetime *The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, Fourth Edition, across cohorts in 15 countries in Africa, the

Americas, Asia, Europe, the Middle East, and the Pacific (Seedat et al. 2009). A very large number of community-dwelling adults (n = 72,933) were studied in face-to-face household surveys using standard assessments. Women had more anxiety and mood disorders than men, and men had more externalizing and substance disorders than women in all countries and cohorts. The surveys also documented significant narrowing in recent cohorts for major depressive disorder and substance disorders, which was significantly related to temporal (major depressive disorder) and spatial (substance disorders) variation in gender role traditionality (Seedat et al. 2009).

Women and Physical Health

While there has been significant improvement in the health, education, and employment status of women in many low-income and middle-income countries over time, the health indices for girls and women compare much less favorably with those for boys and men. For example, a detailed analysis of national and regional data for India shows that there are gender differentials in many indices, with data disaggregated by gender, showing far greater improvement for males than for females (Government of India Ministry of Health and Family Welfare n.d.; The Million Death Study Collaborators 2010; Chandran et al. 2002). The perinatal mortality rate, infant mortality rate, and under-5 mortality rate are poorer for girls. There is evidence of feticide and infanticide of girls. They are often malnourished and brought to hospital later in their course of illnesses than boys. The birth of a girl and failure to conceive a boy are significant risk factors for postpartum depression (Jacob et al. 2006). The suicide rate among young women is about three times that seen for young men (Aaron et al. 2004). Violence against women and girls is common. Women and girls have lower adult literacy rates, school enrolment, and attendance figures. The long walk to school with its associated fear for physical safety, the lack of toilets at schools, the small number of women teachers, and the second-class status of the girl child contribute to these lower rates (Chandran et al. 2002).

Social Determinants of Health

It is widely recognized that the determinants of health are social and economic rather than purely medical (Commission on Social Determinants of Health, World Health Organization 2008). The poor health of women, their social exclusion, and the steep social gradient are due to the unequal distribution of power, income, goods, and services in patriarchal societies. The structural determinants of daily life contribute to the social determinants of health and fuel the inequities in health between girls/women and boys/men. Viewing health in general as an individual or medical issue, reducing population health to a biomedical perspective, and suggesting individual medical interventions reflect a poor understanding of issues. Although the short time lag between the (absence of) medical intervention and the health outcomes stands out as causal, it is the longer latent period and the hazier but ubiquitous and dominant

relationship between patriarchy and culture which have major impacts on outcome. Failure to recognize this relationship and the refusal to tackle these issues result in poorer health standards of the girls and women. Tradition and culture maintain their stranglehold on inequality. Poverty and social exclusion have a multiplicative effect on the social determinants of health with those at higher risk for diseases also having a higher probability of being excluded from healthcare services.

Sociocultural Risk Factors

There are several sociocultural factors that disproportionately disadvantage women and contribute to their emotional ill health. Patriarchal attitudes that have been prevalent for centuries and continue to exist have contributed to this state with women being conferred a subordinate social status and rank (Commission on Social Determinants of Health, World Health Organization 2008). Sexism present everywhere may manifest differently, for example, in poor countries through the denial of educational opportunities to girls and in more affluent countries in the form of unequal pay and discrimination in the political arena. The interrelated issues suggest that the etiology of many mental health "disorders" in women may be considered the diagnosis of the social situation rather than an ailment of the individual (Jenkins and Good 2014). Sociocultural factors which contribute to mental distress and illness are briefly highlighted.

Employment: Job opportunities are considerably restricted for women despite the improvements over the years. There remains inequality with respect to wages in many areas of employment and arenas resulting in women receiving a lower-income relative to men and women being overrepresented in low-income, low-status jobs (Commission on Social Determinants of Health, World Health Organization 2008). This results in women remaining financially dependent on their spouse or other males. The socioeconomic disadvantage also results in women being unable to access necessary treatment.

Women's work at home, because of its invisibility, is rarely recognized, although they work for roughly twice as many hours as men. Technological progress in agriculture and the shift from subsistence to market economies in many low-income and middle-income countries have had a dramatic negative impact on women, cutting them out of employment as many women are unskilled and lack education (Commission on Social Determinants of Health, World Health Organization 2008). Child labor among girls and unequal wages for women for similar work are common. Working women of all segments of society across countries and cultures face various forms of discrimination, including sexual harassment. Women's work is also socially devalued, and autonomy in decision-making related to their life rarely exists for the majority of women particularly in low- and middle-income countries.

Societal roles: Society-imposed gender-based roles have resulted in women being considered the primary family caretakers, responsible for the care of all others including the children, men, and other dependent members. Given this unremitting

responsibility for the care of others, the woman becomes the chronic giver, overworked, and under greater stress (Malhotra and Shah 2015). The personal needs of the woman often remain unmet, as society has deemed their primary responsibility to be toward others rather than to themselves. This constant and intensive caring role can affect the woman's emotional, physical, and social health. Societal expectations of women with regard to their physical appearance result in a greater tendency for body shame, rumination, and eating disorders. In some cultures, the woman is considered responsible for the gender of her child and may be blamed for producing daughters rather than sons resulting in depression in the postpartum period (Chandran et al. 2002).

Multiple roles: Women are often required to juggle multiple roles – they may be mothers, partners, and carers, running a household as well as doing paid work. Even though the number of women working outside the home has increased over the years, this does not relieve them from their domestic duties, which remain invisible, nor does this change their social position significantly.

Health status: The woman's secondary status affects her overall health due to unmet nutritional needs, overwork, lack of adequate rest, and leisure (Jacob et al. 2006).

Violence: The high prevalence of emotional, physical, and sexual violence that women are continually exposed to results in women being in a constant state of vulnerability and subject to negative life experiences. Women are preferentially exposed to abuse such as human trafficking, genital mutilation, forced and early marriage, and honor crimes, which result in significant humiliation and emotional distress.

Decision-making: Making decisions, regarding choice of partner, contraception, timing and number of pregnancies, etc., are often out of the woman's control in low-and middle-income countries which are patriarchal societies (Jacob et al. 2006). The anxiety regarding an unwanted pregnancy can result in significant stress.

Stereotypes: Medical diagnoses are prone to stereotypes. Thus, though a man and woman may present with similar symptoms, the notion that women are more predisposed to emotional distress and depression makes them more likely to earn a mental illness label as compared to a man, when all that the woman is experiencing is a difficult life situation.

Treatment issues: Women are not always taken for treatment of mental illness or may be taken late, contributing to a poorer outcome. She may be abandoned by the spouse and sent back to the marital home, thus, subjecting her to the double stigma of mental illness and marital separation (Jacob et al. 2006; Thara et al. 2003a, b).

Gender Role Hypothesis

A variety of biological, psychosocial, and biopsychosocial hypotheses have been postulated to explain the consistent evidence of higher rates of common mental disorders (depression, anxiety, and somatic symptoms) and the lower rates of substance use in women, which have been documented across countries and

cultures. However, the narrowing of gender differences in cultures and cohorts (Seedat et al. 2009) has refocused interest in the gender role hypothesis, which asserts that gender differences in the prevalence of mental disorders are due to differences in the typical stressors, coping resources, and opportunity structures for expressing psychological distress (Pape et al. 1994; Thoits 1986). The different stressors, psychological and social resources and supports, and the different culturally accepted ways of expression between men and women result in differences in mental health, distress, and illness across time, region, and cultures.

Evidence of decreasing gender differences in depression and substance use has been found largely in countries in which the roles of women have improved in terms of opportunities for employment, access to birth control, and other indicators of increasing gender equality (Seedat et al. 2009). Trends in countries in which gender roles have been more static or during historical periods when gender role changes have been small have failed to document a reduction in gender differences in depression or substance use supporting the gender role hypothesis (Seedat et al. 2009).

Explaining the Link

Culture is broadly defined as "shared symbols and meanings that people create and recreate in the process of social interaction" (Jenkins and Barrett 2004). Culture shapes experience, interpretation, and action and influences how people cope with everyday problems and more severe types of adversity. Gender is a dimension of culture and influences illness experience as well as societal roles, rules, and expectations (Jenkins 2004). There are conspicuous gender differences that are found in the patterns of mental distress and illness, many of which are socioculturally determined. According to the World Health Organization, "gender determines the differential power and control men and women have over the socioeconomic determinants of their mental health and lives, their social position, status and treatment in society and their susceptibility and exposure to specific mental health risks" (World Health Organization n.d.-a). This definition makes it evident that, across the globe, women are at a disadvantage.

Gender injustice is often viewed in the sociocultural context and usually in terms of social outcomes. However, analysis of health data clearly documents the importance of gender and its impact on women's health. Women are the largest discriminated group in most countries. This results not just in adverse social outcomes but also unfavorable health outcomes. Social determinants have a significant impact on the health of girls and women. Viewing the health of women in general as an individual or medical issue and suggesting individual medical interventions reflect a poor understanding of problem. Reducing public health related to women to a biomedical perspective is a major error of the public health movement. Tradition and culture maintain their stranglehold on gender inequality. Debates on gender equality are often reduced to talking about culture, tradition, and religion. The prevalent

patriarchal framework places an ideological bar on the discussion of alternative approaches to achieve gender justice for girls and women. The failure to recognize this relationship and refusal to tackle these issues result in poorer health standards of girls and women.

The social construction of gender in patriarchal societies is cardinal to understanding mental health and distress (Andermann 2010). Patriarchy in practice is a form of structural violence impacting the lives of woman and responsible for suboptimal and poor social, economic, and health outcomes and gender injustice (Jacob 2015a).

Many psychiatric diagnostic labels currently employed in clinical practice (e.g., major depression, generalized anxiety, panic, phobia, post-traumatic stress disorder) assume pathology within individuals even when the problems are in their social environments. Women living in patriarchal societies face a variety of stressors within and outside their homes. Domestic abuse and violence, sexual harassment, and rape, common in patriarchal cultures and often causal, are ignored by the current classificatory systems, which focus on symptom counts sans context (Jacob 2015b). Women, sexual, religious, and ethnic minorities and lower castes (in the Indian subcontinent) who live under continued threats of violence often receive labels, which pathologizes them rather than focus on the abnormality of their environments and their coping responses to continued and severe threats.

Managing Gender-Related Mental Health Challenges

It is evident that women's mental health is influenced by a variety of sociocultural factors, which need to be addressed in order to effectively deal with the problem, rather than hoping to improve it by focusing solely on the individual's personal or lifestyle risk factors or through pharmacotherapeutic interventions. Psychiatry, despite its biomedical formulations, should examine the context and focus on psychosocial interventions to address psychological, social, and economic stressors, environmental supports, and coping strategies. The medicalization of all psychosocial distress, as currently practiced, needs to be replaced with a more holistic approach to psychiatric presentations in medical practice (Jacob 2010). Diagnostic labels like acute and chronic adjustment problems, which focus on problems of living, environmental stressors, and coping, should be preferred to diagnostic heads like depression and anxiety, which provide an illusion disease. The psychiatric framework should make a theoretical shift from a "diagnosis-drug treatment approach" to a broader framework of "caring for illness," understanding illness in context, and taking care of the person who is sick (Jacob 2010; Jacob and Kuruvilla 2017; Kuruvilla and Jacob 2019). Formulations, which focus on healing, often remain at a subtheoretical level, are learnt by trial and error and require long years of experience, and, consequently, need to be emphasized and theorized. Contexts should not only influence medical and psychiatric practice; they should be able to change its theory (Jacob 2017).

The UN Program on Population and Development and Inter-Agency Task Force (United Nations Population Information Network 2001) has suggested that there are five components that are required for women's empowerment: "improving the women's sense of self-worth; ensuring their right to have and to determine choices; the right to have access to opportunities and resources; the right to have the power to control their own lives both within and outside the home; and the ability to influence the direction of social change to create a more just social and economic order, nationally and internationally."

Education provides women an awareness of their rights and resources, the capability to fight exploitation and injustice, and better chances of economic independence. Effecting changes in societal attitudes so that women can have sufficient autonomy to make decisions that affect their lives; ensuring equal access to employment; providing material resources such as healthcare, adequate food, water, and shelter for them to be able to support themselves; and ensuring that they are able to receive necessary psychological support are important strategies.

The World Psychiatric Association (WPA) has called for the "elimination of violence and discrimination based on sex, age, income, race, ethnic background, sexual, orientation, or religious beliefs" (Stewart 2006). It is imperative to ensure appropriate criminal justice responses to violence against women. Political and legal will is necessary to establish policies that are woman friendly and that address women's mental health needs and concerns while taking into account sociocultural norms that affect them. Interventions that focus on the social and economic determinants of mental health such as social inclusion, access to economic resources, and freedom from discrimination and violence have been shown to improve women's mental health (Kermode et al. 2007). Women with high levels of social support have been shown to be less likely to experience depression (Dasgupta et al. 2013).

While gender equality and justice are among the United Nations Millennium Development Goals, their implementation in many low- and middle-income countries has been slow and patchy. Issues related to gender equality are not adequately mainstreamed in many countries. Discussion of gender is usually confined to Goals 3 and 5, which are gender equality and maternal mortality. Women are cast only in the role of victims, rather than as equal partners in development. The social, economic, and cultural contexts, the most significant predictors of women's health, are barely mentioned.

The spirit of egalitarianism enshrined in many national constitutions per se has not and will not result in equality of social and health outcomes for all people. There is need to change social structures. The many small moments of justice cannot overcome the large contradictions in patriarchal societies. Liberals, by definition, can identify the issues but do not actively seek fundamental shifts in political power or enthusiastically champion changes in social mores. They are also part of the tyrannical social order. Systemic injustice requires much more than a change of heart; it requires changes in social structures. Social injustice is killing people and mandates the ethical imperative of improving the social determinants of health (Commission on Social Determinants of Health, World Health Organization 2008).

Conclusion

Women's well-being is thus "not solely determined by biological factors and reproduction, but also by the effects of workload, nutrition, stress, war, migration" (Van der Kwaak et al. 1991). The origins of much of the pain and suffering particular to women can be traced to the social circumstances of their lives. While it is essential to identify and strengthen existing individual sources of strength and resilience to help women cope in the face of prevailing cultural situations (Scheper-Hughes 2008), to truly deal with the problem at its root requires efforts on a global scale to enhance the status of women. This requires legal and political means to encourage changes in attitudes toward women, to ensure education and economic empowerment and improvement in social and mental health services, and to ensure not only equal opportunities but also on achieving equal outcomes (Scheper-Hughes 2008).

The benefits of making such changes are demonstrated by the decreasing gender differences that have been observed in disorders such as depression and substance use in countries that have provided greater employment opportunities for women, access to birth control, and other resources to help combat stress (Seedat et al. 2009).

Social interventions should form the core of all health and prevention programs as individual medical interventions have little impact on population indices, which require population interventions. The major barrier to mainstreaming gender justice and to scaling up effective interventions is gender inequality based on sociocultural issues (Jacob n.d.). The systematic discrimination of girls and women based on culture and tradition needs to be tackled if interventions have to work. Many researchers and activists are no longer convinced that we can succeed in improving women's health or status unless society attempts to confront its gender bias openly. For too long we have been refusing to discuss women's issues explicitly with society. It would appear that nothing short of a social revolution would bring about an improvement in the health of Indian women.

Many approaches have been suggested. They will all need to include methodologies, which examine, understand, and confront gender discrimination in social, cultural, and religious spheres (Jacob n.d.). Legal solutions enforcing gender justice are equally necessary, and monitoring the implementation of legislation is mandatory.

The magnitude of the inequality related to health is often downplayed even within medical circles (Jacob n.d.). The second-class status of women in many societies persists, and women's perspectives continue to be missing, marginalized, or ignored. There is a definite need to engage communities and the population as a whole in a debate to challenge traditional stereotypes and accepted social norms. Programs to achieve gender equality should not only focus on the provision of equal or greater opportunities for women. They should also concentrate on achieving equality in gender outcomes within a reasonable timeframe. Outcomes, in general, and health outcomes, in particular, are measurable with a much greater degree of accuracy than opportunities.

The United Nations Women's new flagship report, "Turning promises into action: Gender equality in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development" (United Nations

Women n.d.), provides a comprehensive and authoritative assessment of progress, gaps, and challenges in the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) from a gender perspective. It monitors global and regional trends in achieving the SDGs for women and girls based on available data and provides practical guidance for the implementation of gender-responsive policies and accountability processes. It lays the basis for robust, gender-responsive monitoring of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. The report:

- (i) Shows how gender equality is central to the achievement of all 17 SDGs and arguing for an integrated and rights-based approach to implementation
- (ii) Explains gender data gaps and challenges for robust monitoring and establishing starting points and trends across a range of gender-related indicators based on available data
- (iii) Provides concrete guidance on policies to achieve two strategic targets under SDG 5 (violence and unpaid care) and outlining how these policies are synergistic with other goals and targets
- (iv) Sets an agenda for strengthening accountability for gender equality commitments at global, regional, and national levels (United Nations Women n.d.)

All plans and projects within community programs should be assessed using the "gender lens" in order to achieve gender justice for women (Jacob n.d.). These programs will have to cover the social context of home, school, workplace, law, and politics in order to improve women's health. There is a need to challenge the normalization of gender discrimination in many countries and cultures. The focus should be on public health approaches to change social and cultural perspectives with the aim of primary prevention of discrimination while continuing medical interventions for early diagnosis and management of the medical consequences. There is a need for aggressive gender justice in order that women can achieve equal health and social status in the near future.

Cross-References

- ▶ Depression, Anxiety, and Physical Morbidity in Women
- ▶ Interpersonal Violence and Perinatal Mental Health
- ▶ Women's Political and Economic Participation

References

Aaron R, Joseph A, Abraham S, Muliyil J, George K, Prasad J, Minz S, Abraham VJ, Bose A (2004) Suicides in young people in rural southern India. Lancet 363:1117–1118

Andermann L (2010) Culture and the social construction of gender: mapping the intersection with mental health. Int Rev Psychiatry 22:501–512

Chandran M, Tharyan P, Muliyil J, Abraham S (2002) Post-partum depression in a cohort of women from a rural area of Tamil Nadu, India. Incidence and risk factors. Br J Psychiatry 181:499–504

- Commission on Social Determinants of Health, World Health Organization (2008) Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. WHO, Geneva
- Dasgupta A, Battala M, Saggurti N, Nair S, Naik DD, Silverman JG et al (2013) Local social support mitigates depression among women contending with spousal violence and husband's risky drinking in Mumbai slum communities. J Affect Dis 145:126–129
- Government of India Ministry of Health and Family Welfare (n.d.) National Family Health Survey 4 (2015–2016). Government of India, New Delhi. http://rchiips.org/NFHS/pdf/NFHS4/India.pdf. Accessed 14 June 2018
- Jacob KS (2010) Reclaiming primary care: managing depression and anxiety in a different framework. In: Zachariah A, Srivats R, Tharu S (eds) Towards a critical medical practice: reflections on the dilemmas of medical culture today. Orient Blackswan, New Delhi
- Jacob KS (2015a) Ahimsa at odds: individual ethics, structural violence and India. Econ Polit Wkly 50(40):3. https://www.epw.in/journal/2015/40/web-exclusives/ahimsa-odds.html. Accessed 14 June 2018
- Jacob KS (2015b) Post-traumatic stress disorder: psychiatric management, atonement and justice. Natl Med J India 28:198–200
- Jacob KS (2017) Theorizing medical practice for India. Nat Med J India 30:183-186
- Jacob KS (n.d.) Women's health & need for gender justice. The Hindu, 29 July 2009
- Jacob KS, Kuruvilla A (2017) Psychiatric presentations in general practice: a guide to holistic management, 2nd edn. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton
- Jacob ME, Abraham S, Surya S, Minz S, Singh D, Abraham VJ, Prasad J, George K, Kuruvilla A, Jacob KS (2006) A community health programme in rural Tamil Nadu, India: the need for gender justice for women. Reprod Health Matters 14:101–108
- Jenkins JH (2004) Schizophrenia is a paradigm case for understanding fundamental human process. In: Jenkins JH, Barrett RJ (eds) Schizophrenia, culture, and subjectivity: the edge of experience. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 29–61
- Jenkins JH, Barrett RJ (2004) Introduction. In: Jenkins JH, Barrett RJ (eds) Schizophrenia, culture, and subjectivity: the edge of experience. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 1–25
- Jenkins J, Good M (2014) Women and global mental health: vulnerability and empowerment. In: Okpaku S (ed) Essentials of global mental health. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 264–281
- Kermode M, Herrman H, Arole R, White J, Premkumar R, Patel V (2007) Empowerment of women and mental health promotion: a qualitative study in rural Maharashtra, India. BMC Public Health 7:225
- Kuehner C (2003) Gender differences in unipolar depression: an update of epidemiological findings and possible explanations. Acta Psychiatr Scand 108:163–174
- Kuruvilla A, Jacob KS (2019) Reimagining psychiatric education for physicians. Nat Med J India (in press)
- Malhotra S, Shah R (2015) Women and mental health in India. Indian J Psychiatry 57:S205–S211 Pape H, Hammer T, Vaglum P (1994) Are "traditional" sex differences less conspicuous in young cannabis users than in other young people? J Psychoactive Drugs 26:257–263
- Patel V, Kleinman A (2003) Poverty and common mental disorders in developing countries. Bull World Health Organization 81:609–615
- Patel V, Kirkwood BR, Pednekar S, Pereira B, Barros P, Fernandes et al (2006) Gender disadvantage and reproductive health risk factors for common mental disorders in women: a community survey in India. Arch Gen Psychiatry 63:404–413
- Pigott TA (1999) Gender differences in the epidemiology and treatment of anxiety disorders. J Clin Psychiatry 60:4–15
- Scheper-Hughes N (2008) A talent for life: reflections on human vulnerability and resilience. Ethnos 73:25-56
- Seedat S, Scott KM, Angermeyer MC, Berglund P, Bromet EJ, Brugha TS et al (2009) Crossnational associations between gender and mental disorders in the World Health Organization world mental health surveys. Arch Gen Psychiatry 66:785–795
- Stewart DE (2006) The international consensus statement on women's mental health and the WPA consensus statement on interpersonal violence against women. World Psychiatry 5:61–64

- Thara R, Kamath S, Kumar S (2003a) Women with schizophrenia and broken marriages Doubly disadvantaged. Part I: patient perspective. Int J Soc Psychiatry 49:225–232
- Thara R, Kamath S, Kumar S (2003b) Women with schizophrenia and broken marriages Doubly disadvantaged. Part II: family perspective. Int J Soc Psychiatry 49:233–240
- The Million Death Study Collaborators (2010) Causes of neonatal and child mortality in India: a nationally representative mortality survey. Lancet 376:1853–1810
- Thoits P (1986) Multiple identities: examining gender and marital status differences in distress. Am Sociol Rev 51:259–272
- United Nations Population Information Network (2001) Guidelines on women's empowerment. http://www.un.org/popin/unfpa/taskforce/guide/iatfwemp.gdl.html. Accessed 14 June 2018
- United Nations Women (n.d.) Turning promises into action: gender equality in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. UN Women, New York. http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2018/2/gender-equality-in-the-2030-agenda-for-sustainable-development-2018#view. Accessed 14 June 2018
- Van der Kwaak A, van den Engel M, Richters A (1991) Women and health. Vena Journal 3:2–33 World Health Organization (n.d.-a) Gender and women's mental health. http://www.who.int/mental health/prevention/genderwomen/en/. Accessed 14 June 2018
- World Health Organization (n.d.-b) Department of Mental Health and Substance Dependence. Gender disparities and mental health. http://www.who.int/mental_health/media/en/242.pdf?ua=1. Accessed 14 June 2018